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 vii 

QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

 
1. Whether claims challenging a company’s environmental commitments, 

practices, and risks are actionable under Section 10(b), and whether 

those claims adequately plead scienter. 

 

2. Whether Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act does not require culpable 

participation to be pled where such a requirement would be contrary to 

the language of the statute, limit liability, and result in less oversight to 

ensure securities law compliance.  
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

James Wilson built his hydraulic fracturing (“fracking”) behemoth, Red 

River Exploration Company (“Red River”) by taking risks. (R. at 2, 4).1 However, 

Red River’s risky behavior irrevocably tied it to an environmental disaster. 

Unfortunately for the Teachers Retirement System of Fordham and Fordham 

Municipal Retirement Fund (“the Funds”), although Red River had been 

portrayed as a safe bet, much more was going on below the surface. 

In late 2017, multiple university geology departments called Red River to 

report low-level seismic activity in Eagle Ford Shale, an area Red River was 

actively fracking. (R. at 5). In a December 2017 email exchange, Pamela 

Thompson, Red River’s chief operating and environmental officer, and Sandra 

Grimes, Red River’s senior vice president and general counsel, dismissed these 

calls and chose to abstain from investigating or disclosing these warnings to 

investors. (R. at 5). At this time, Wilson was also dismissing concerns while he 

met with Red River’s engineers. (R. at 5). Wilson felt the engineer’s 

apprehension about the structurally sound, but nearing capacity wastewater 

storage system was overstated. (R. at 5). He decided to expand capacity only 

once he increased operations. (R. at 5).  

In January 2018, Wilson pushed for Red River’s disclosure documents 

and public statements to have a more “positive spin”, resulting in the revision 

                                                        
1 The fracking process brings gas to the surface through an extraordinary 
process that includes drilling, demolishing rock, and pumping millions of 
gallons of water, sand, and chemicals underground. (R. at 3-4). 
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of the March 1, 2018 Annual Report and Form 10-K. (R. at 6).  The form stated: 

“[t]here is no higher priority than ensuring that our drilling activity continues 

to be conducted in a manner consistent with protecting the environment and 

preventing or remediating any damage resulting from an environmental 

occurrence”; “[o]ur commitment to protecting the environment is unwavering 

and constant”; that the company invested in “the latest technology in order to 

minimize surface water or soil contamination”; Red River “conduct[s] frequent 

environmental practices reviews to assure our commitment to environmental 

best practices and devote[s] our most talented personnel and a substantial 

budget to ensuring protection of the environment[]”; and the fracking process 

“involves no serious environmental issues not associated with conventional 

drilling.” (R. at 6). 

In early May, Red River received yet another geology department call 

reporting low-level seismic activity at Eagle Rock. (R. at 7). Again, Thompson, 

Grimes, and Wilson decided against disclosure and chose to investigate the 

issue sometime in the future. (R. at 7). Even though the calls were 

accumulating, and regardless of Thompson’s unease from having heard South 

Dakota’s low-level seismic activity was attributable to fracking. (R. at 7).  

Wilson had heard from a gas exploration company senior vice president 

that companies could make generalized statements about their environmental 

commitments so long as they excluded explicit assertions and did not omit 

relevant background material. (R. at 6). Unconcerned about the earlier calls, 

Wilson made un-vetted statements at a May 15, 2018 conference of oil and gas 
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securities analysts: “I think we have the tightest environmental practices in the 

West Texas oil patch” and “[c]andidly, I honestly believe a major environmental 

event has about a zero percent chance of occurring on our property. We just 

pay too much attention for that to happen.” (R. at 7). Meanwhile, Red River 

received even more calls on May, 28, 2018 about low-level seismic activity in 

the area (R. at 7). Still, with the cries of concern compounding, Thompson and 

Grimes continued to postpone disclosing these facts to shareholders. (R. at 7). 

On June 1, 2018, in the wake of the numerous calls from the geology 

departments, Red River filed their Form 10-Q, and in listing risk factors 

declared “operations could be subject to disruption by natural disasters beyond 

our control,” including “severe storms, fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and 

terrorist attacks.” (R. at 7-8).  A few days after this filing, on June 3, 2018, the 

TRSF purchased Red River shares for $27 million on the New York Stock 

Exchange. (R. at 8).  On June 7, 2018, the FMRF purchased Red River shares 

for $31 million on the New York Stock Exchange. (R. at 8). 

Not even a week later, on June 10, 2018, multiple mid-level seismic 

shocks reverberated through Eagle Ford Shale, and the toxic wastewater from 

Red River’s storage site seeped into regional aquifers. (R. at 8). Red River’s 

stock price plummeted from one hundred twenty-six dollars to ninety-four 

dollars and fifty cents. (R. at 8). Although the effect of Red River’s excessive 

blasting was unresolved, State and Federal environmental agencies did 

conclude that Red River’s fracking proximately caused the wastewater’s escape 

and that its storage facility exceeded the recommended capacity. (R. at 8). 
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On August 10, 2018, the Funds filed a punitive class action against Red 

River and Wilson in the United States District Court for the District of 

Fordham. (R. at 8).  The complaint alleged Red River’s disclosure documents 

released on March 1, 2018 and June 1, 2018, and Wilson’s May 15, 2018 

statements made false and misleading assertions and omissions, violating 

Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. (R. at 9-10). Additionally, 

the Funds alleged Wilson was liable as a control person under Section 20(a) of 

the Exchange Act. (R. at 9). On September 10, 2018, Petitioners’ filed a 12(b)(6) 

motion to dismiss the Fund’s claims for failing to state a claim. (R. at 10).  The 

district court granted both motions and the Funds appealed. (R. at 10). 

Upon appeal, the Circuit Court reversed the District Court’s dismissal of 

both motions. (R. 12).  First, the Circuit Court found the statements, with the 

exception to statement one and six (R. at 16), were actionable under Section 

10(b) because they were: 1) materially misleading and not corporate 

mismanagement or puffery (R. at 15, 16, 18); and 2) that the Funds pleaded 

sufficient facts under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 

(“PSLRA”) to create a strong inference of severe recklessness. (R. at 19, 21). 

Last, the Circuit Court found a viable Section 20(a) claim because the Funds 

sufficiently pled a primary violation and Wilson’s control. (R. at 24). The Circuit 

Court disagreed that the Funds must allege Wilson’s culpable participation in 

the primary violation in their complaint. (R. at 24).  Red River and Wilson filed 

a writ of certiorari, and the United States Supreme Court granted the writ on 

February 1, 2019. (R. at 37).  
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

This Court should affirm the Fourteenth Circuit and find Red River’s 

motion to dismiss should be denied. First, the Funds have adequately pled that 

Red River’s statements regarding its environmental commitments, practices, 

and risks contain misrepresentations and omissions of material facts. 

Moreover, their claims are not barred by the doctrines of puffery or corporate 

mismanagement. Finally, the Funds have pled a strong inference that at the 

time the statements were made, Red River either knew or was reckless in not 

knowing that its statements misrepresented or omitted material facts. 

Therefore, Red River’s statements are actionable as a matter of law under 

Section 10(b). 

 Additionally, a Section 20(a) claim does not require plaintiffs to allege 

culpable participation requirement. This pleading requirement would be 

inconsistent with the plain text. Furthermore, it would contradict the purpose 

of the statute to expand securities liability. Ultimately, a culpable participation 

requirement would cause disorder in the lower courts, disproportionately 

burden plaintiffs, and disincentivize oversight of securities laws compliance. 

Therefore, the Funds sufficiently pled a Section 20(a) claim. They were only 

required to allege a primary violation and that Wilson was a control person as 

CEO of Red River. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the decision of the 

Circuit Court.    
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ARGUMENT 

I. RESPONDENTS HAVE ADEQUATELY PLED MATERIALITY AND 
SCIENTER. 

 
 Red River was not required to champion itself as a model corporate 

citizen in disclosure documents and at investor conferences. A corporation can 

withhold material nonpublic information that investors “would very much like 

to know.” See In re Time Warner, 9 F.3d 259, 267 (2d Cir. 1993). However, 

representations of commitments, practices, and risks must be “complete and 

accurate.” In re Morgan Stanley Info. Fund Sec. Litig., 592 F.3d 347, 366 (2d 

Cir. 2010). Section 10(b), as effectuated by Rule 10(b)-5, provides that a 

corporation may be held liable for a statement that misrepresents a material 

fact, or for omitting a material fact required to make a statement not 

misleading. See 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5; cf. Omnicare, Inc. v. Laborers Dist. 

Council Constr. Industry Pension Fund, 135 S. Ct. 1318, 1323 (2015). Here, the 

Funds have adequately pled that Red River’s statements contained 

misrepresentations and omissions of material facts. Moreover, the Funds have 

pled a strong inference that at the time the statements were made, Red River 

either knew or was reckless in not knowing that its statements misrepresented 

or omitted material facts. Therefore, Red River’s statements are actionable as a 

matter of law under Section 10(b). 

A. Red River’s commitment, practices, and risk statements are 
material. 

 
 Red River inundated the market with deceptive reassurances of its 

unwavering commitment to environmental best practices. These statements 
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were both misleading and material. Moreover, the Funds’ claims challenging 

Red River’s statements are not barred by the doctrines of puffery or corporate 

mismanagement. Therefore, the claims are actionable as a matter of law. 

1. Practices and commitments statements 

i. Statements were misleading and material 
 
 Respondents have adequately pled that Red River’s statements regarding 

its environmental commitments and practices are actionable as a matter of law 

because they are “misleading as to a material fact.” Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. 

Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27, 38 (2011) (quoting Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 

224, 238 (1988)). A statement is misleading if “in the light of the facts existing 

at the time of the [statement] . . . [a] reasonable investor, in the exercise of due 

care, would have been misled by it.” SEC v. Texas Gulf Sulphur Co., 401 F.2d 

833, 863 (2d Cir. 1968). A fact is material when there is a substantial 

likelihood that a reasonable investor would view it as “having significantly 

altered the ‘total mix’ of information made available.” Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 

485 U.S. 224, 232 (1988) (quoting TSC Indus., Inc. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 

438, 449 (1976)). Here, the Funds have identified which statements concerning 

Red River’s environmental commitments and practices are misleading, and 

have explained why the statements would mislead a reasonable investor. See 

15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(1).   

First, in Statement 4 of its March 2018 Form 10-K, Red River claimed 

that its commitment to the environment was demonstrated through their 

“[adoption of the latest technology[.]” (R. at 37). Red River also claimed in 
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Statement 2 of the same Form 10-K that “there is no higher priority” than 

ensuring that its drilling activity continued to be conducted “in a manner 

consistent with preventing or remediating any damage resulting from an 

environmental occurrence.” (R. at 37). An investor reading Red River’s 10-K 

could reasonably assume that the company was not only prioritizing its 

fracking wastewater monitoring —an obvious risk to local aquifers given that 

the mixture contains chemicals and sand—but also that Red River was 

investing in upgraded wastewater storage facilities when its engineers called for 

it. However, only a few months before the statement was issued, Wilson 

expressly overruled the direct recommendation of his engineering team to 

expand the company’s wastewater storage capabilities. (R. at 5).  

 In addition to being misleading, Red River’s misrepresentations are also 

material. Expanding upon the wastewater storage example above, the question 

of materiality is whether a reasonable investor would find that Red River’s lack 

of investment in wastewater storage, in the face of its commitment and practice 

statements already released, significantly alters the “total mix” of information 

that a shareholder (or potential shareholder) would consider when deciding to 

purchase or sell a Red River security. Basic, 485 U.S. at 232. Here, Red River’s 

misrepresentations are material because they 1) repeatedly champion practices 

at the heart of Red River’s core business and 2) tie Red River’s financial 

success as a company to its environmental commitments and practices.  

 First, Red River’s statements are material because they mislead investors 

in regards to a core business practice of the company. Materiality is a fact-
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specific, highly-contextual inquiry. See Bricklayers & Masons Local Union No. 5 

Ohio Pension Fund v. Transocean Ltd., 866 F. Supp. 2d 223, 244 (S.D.N.Y. 

2012) (stating the question of materiality “entail[s] delicate, fact-intensive 

assessments that are more properly left to the jury”). Red River’s environmental 

commitments and practices are central to its fracking procedures. Thus, Red 

River’s statement is much more likely to significantly alter the “total mix” of 

information for a reasonable investor than if the statement were on a topic 

much less central to Red River’s core operations. See, e.g., In re Massey Energy 

Co. Sec. Litig., 883 F. Supp. 2d 597, 617-18 (S.D.W. Va. 2012) (holding that the 

safety statements were actionable in part because they were so important to 

the company’s business). 

 Similarly, Red River’s statements are material because they misrepresent 

the company’s efforts to achieve environmental best practices in an industry 

rife with potential hazards. An informed investor likely knows about the 

dangers of the fracking industry, and understands that a robust program of 

environmental best practices would reduce the likelihood that there would be a 

major incident delaying or ultimately destroying Red River’s ability to produce 

gas and oil. See, e.g., In re ValuJet, Inc. Sec. Litig., 984 F. Supp. 1472, 1477-78 

(N.D. Ga. 1997) (holding that statements touting the airline’s safety record as 

“certifiably among the best in the airline industry” were material). 

 This is especially true because Red River has tied its success as a 

company to its environmental commitments and practices. See Massey, 883 F. 

Supp. 2d at 618 (“Defendants closely aligned their statements of commitment 
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to safety to their productivity and success as a company, thereby lending 

credence to the materiality of their statements.”). Furthermore, in Statement 4 

Red River claimed that the company’s investment in the latest technology 

“differentiates us from our competitors.” (R. at 37). See Ind. Pub. Ret. Sys. v. 

SAIC, Inc., 818 F.3d 85, 98 (2d Cir. 2016) (“Some circumstances . . . clearly 

designed to distinguish the company from other specified companies in the 

same industry [are actionable].”). Thus, it is more likely that if an investor had 

been apprised of the true state of Red River’s environmental practices and 

commitments compared to its promised statements, it would significantly alter 

the total mix of information available. Massey, 883 F. Supp. 2d at 616. 

ii. Statements were not puffery 
 
 Red River’s environmental commitment and practice statements are 

material, falsifiable misrepresentations of present putative facts. Puffing 

statements are usually not capable of objective verification and “lack[] a 

standard against which a reasonable investor could expect them to be pegged” 

or determined to be false. City of Monroe Emples. Ret. Sys. v. Bridgestone Corp., 

387 F.3d 468, 489 (6th Cir. 2004); see also Grossman v. Novell, Inc., 120 F.3d 

1112, 1119 (10th Cir. 1997). Claims that are dismissed at the pleading stage 

are those which are simply too vague to be “contradicted by sufficient 

particularized information.” Freudenberg v. E*Trade Fin. Corp., 712 F. Supp. 2d 

171, 190 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (citing City of Sterling Heights Police & Fire Ret. Sys. v. 

Abbey Nat’l, PLC, 423 F. Supp. 2d 348, 359-60 (S.D.N.Y. 2006)). “In deeming a 

statement puffery at the motion to dismiss stage, courts must exercise great 
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caution.” Bricklayers, 866 F. Supp. 2d at 244. Therefore, this Court should 

affirm the Fourteenth Circuit’s holding that most of Red River’s commitment 

and practice statements are not puffery. 

  Red River’s statements are not puffery because they are factual 

misrepresentations of present practices are closely tied to the core business of 

the company. “Misstatements…are not ‘puffery’ where, as alleged here, they 

were ‘misrepresentations of existing facts.’” Freudenberg, 712 F. Supp. 2d at 

189 (citing Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 315 (2d Cir. 2000). Additionally, “a 

factual statement or omission that is false or misleading and that is material 

. . . may be actionable.” Longman v. Food Lion, Inc., 197 F.3d 675, 683 (4th Cir. 

1999). First, Red River’s statements make factual claims about how Red River 

undertakes its drilling activity, a practice closely tied to its core business, to be 

in a “manner consistent” with protecting the environment. (R. at 6). Second, 

Red River misrepresented that it was making investment in the “latest 

technology” to minimize water and soil contamination. (R. at 6). Instead, the 

company was only ignoring warnings from their engineers about their 

wastewater storage tanks. (R. at 5). 

 Additionally, although Red River claims that these are simply vague 

aspirational statements, “[t]hey are not stated in a context of a future 

prediction, but generally recognize the company’s past achievements and 

current goals.” Massey, 883 F. Supp. at 618. “Even to the extent these 

statements were merely aspirational, investors could have relied at least on the 

notion that the Company held such aspirations. In alleging that executives in 
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the highest echelons of the Company were actively involved in bribing a 

government official during the time these statements were made, Plaintiff has 

adequately alleged that no such aspirations were at play.” In re Banco Bradesco 

S.A. Sec. Litig., 277 F. Supp. 3d 600, 660 (S.D.N.Y 2017). Here, the statements 

Wilson made at the May 15, 2018 conference were not just aspirational 

declarations of future intent, but misrepresentations of current and past 

behavior. Red River knew there was more than a “zero percent” chance of a 

disastrous environmental event when they received the multiple calls from 

geology departments about the seismic activity. (R. at 7). 

iii. Claims are not just accusations of corporate 
mismanagement 

 
 Red River’s material misrepresentations induced the Funds to purchase 

a security that they would otherwise have avoided. The Exchange Act was 

enacted to address precisely this type of deceit related to the purchase or sale 

of securities. A claim alleging a breach of fiduciary duty is not actionable under 

Section 10(b) absent any deception, misrepresentation, or nondisclosure. Santa 

Fe Industries, Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 473 (1977). However, Santa Fe does 

not bar a Section 10(b) claim when a corporation misrepresents material 

information that it is required to disclose, even when the underlying conduct 

implicates a breach of fiduciary duty. See e.g. Suez Equity Investors, L.P. v. 

Toronto-Dominion Bank, 250 F.3d 87, 99 (2d Cir. 2001) (holding Santa Fe did 

not apply where the plaintiffs alleged deception, and deliberate 

misrepresentation). Therefore, this Court should affirm the Fourteenth Circuit’s 

holding that the Funds’ claims are not barred by Santa Fe. 
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A case such as Santa Fe, in which the claim is that shareholders were 

treated unfairly by a fiduciary without any claim of manipulation or deception, 

should remain “relegated to state law.” Santa Fe, 430 U.S. at 479 (quoting Piper 

v. Chris-Craft Industries, Inc., 430 U.S. 1, 40 (1977)). Nothing in the plain 

language of Section 10(b) indicates “that Congress meant to prohibit any 

conduct not involving manipulation or deception.” Santa Fe, 430 U.S. at 473. 

Otherwise, the result would encourage “vexatious litigation…from a widely 

expanded class of plaintiffs” and create an “extension of the federal securities 

laws [which] would overlap and quite possibly interfere with state corporate 

law.” Id. at 479. The “fundamental purpose” of Section 10(b) is to further a 

“philosophy of full disclosure.” Id. at 478. Thus, “[Section] 10(b) must be read 

flexibly, not technically and restrictively” to provide a cause of action for “any 

plaintiff who ‘suffer[s] an injury as a result of deceptive practices touching [the] 

sale [or purchase] of securities.’” Id. at 475-76 (quoting Superintendent of 

Insurance v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6, 12-13 (1971)). 

 Here, petitioners have essentially urged this Court to eviscerate Section 

10(b) whenever corporate mismanagement is implicated in the sale or purchase 

of securities. This argument does not comport with the holding in Santa Fe, 

which bars 10(b) claims when there is no element of deception, 

misrepresentation, or nondisclosure. It also goes against how Santa Fe is 

understood by the circuit courts. Finally, it is bad public policy. Petitioners 

basically ask that “officers and directors . . . be immune from federal liability 
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whenever their misconduct also happened to violate state-law fiduciary duties.” 

Pellman v. Cinerama, Inc., 503 F. Supp. 107, 109 (S.D.N.Y. 1980). 

 The purpose of the Exchange Act is to provide investors with federal 

protection against deceptive and manipulative practices. The crux of this 

allegation is that Red River misrepresented material information to induce 

investors to buy stock. The Funds were not even shareholders until after Red 

River’s last statement was made, so at the time of the alleged 

misrepresentation there was no fiduciary relationship. The teachers of 

Fordham are not the “vexatious litigants” warned of by Santa Fe. They are 

precisely the type of people the Exchange Act was enacted to protect. 

2. Risk Omissions 

An omission is only actionable under Section 10(b) when a corporation 

has a duty to disclose the omitted facts. “Such a duty may arise…[from] a 

corporate statement that would otherwise be ‘inaccurate, incomplete, or 

misleading.’” Stratte-McClure v. Morgan Stanley, 776 F.3d 94, 101 (2d Cir. 

2015) (quoting Glazer v. Formica Corp., 964 F.2d 149, 157 (2d Cir. 1992)). 

Courts may also consider “[W]hether the misstatement or omission implicates a 

business segment that plays a significant role in the company’s operations or 

profitability, and whether management expects that the misstatement or 

omission will result in a significant market reaction.” Hutchinson v. Deutsche 

Bank Sec. Inc., 647 F.3d 479, 485 (2d Cir. 2011). 

 The fact that a statement may be true in isolation is not enough if the 

omitted fact would alter the “total mix” of information that a reasonable 



Team R3 

 15 

investor would rely upon in making an investment decision. Without 

mentioning the reports of low-level seismic activity, Red River’s statement was 

misleading insofar as it “would cause a reasonable investor to make an overly 

optimistic assessment of the risk” of seismic activity. 

 This Court has warned that “too low a standard of materiality…[might] 

lead management ‘simply to bury the shareholders in an avalanche of trivial 

information.’” Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231 (1998)  (quoting TSC 

Industries, Inc. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 448 (1976)). However, 

materiality is a fact-intensive determination, and given the dangers inherent to 

the fracking industry, most investors would probably prefer the opportunity to 

learn of a slim risk of major catastrophe, then have it occur and be told it was 

not material enough. Furthermore, this better conforms with the central 

importance of disclosure in securities laws. 

3. Wilson’s guarantees 

Perhaps no statement from Red River is as great a misrepresentation as 

Wilson’s proclamation to investors that he “honestly believe[s]” a major 

environmental event “has about a zero percent chance of occurring on our 

property.” Given that Wilson had already received two rounds of phone 

warnings from local universities expressing concern at indications of low-level 

seismic activity, this statement is clearly misleading. 

 Red River argues that Wilson’s statement is not material because it is 

both couched in opinion—“I believe”—and is the type of aspirational puffery 

that a CEO is expected to proffer at an investment conference. However, both 
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arguments fail. First, simply because an executive says “I think” before a 

statement does not mean that they cannot be held liable for it. A statement of 

opinion may be actionable if the speaker at the time knows the opinion is 

untrue. Virginia Bankshares v. Sandberg, 501 U.S. 1083, 1093-94 (1991). Here, 

this is a plethora of evidence to suggest that Wilson did not actually believe 

there was approximately a zero percent chance of an earthquake. Second, an 

aspirational statement may still be material if phrased as a guarantee. IBEW 

Local Union No. 58 Pension Tr. Fund & Annuity Fund v. Royal Bank of Scotland 

Grp., PLC, 783 F.3d 383, 392 (2d Cir. 2015). Here, Wilson not only stated that 

there was no chance of an environmental event occurring, he also promised 

that his company would continue to monitor for environmental events. 

B. The Funds pled a strong inference that Red River possessed the 
required scienter. 

 
The scienter inquiry requires that a court consider “whether all of the 

facts alleged, taken collectively, give rise to a strong inference of scienter.” 

Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 323 (2007). A 

“strong” inference needs to be “cogent and compelling,” however, it need “not be 

irrefutable, i.e., of the ‘smoking-gun’ genre, or even [be] the ‘most plausible 

[inference].’” Id. at 324 (internal citation omitted). After comparing inferences, a 

court only needs to find that the plaintiff’s inference is as strong as any 

opposing inference. See ACA Fin. Guar. Corp. v. Advest, Inc., 512 F.3d 46, 59 

(1st Cir. 2008) (“Tellabs now awards the draw to the plaintiff.”). 



Team R3 

 17 

 In order to adequately plead scienter, a plaintiff may establish that a 

defendant acted recklessly.2 Conduct is reckless when a defendant’s 

misrepresentation or omission involves “an extreme departure from the 

standard of ordinary care, and . . . present[s] a danger of misleading buyers or 

sellers which is either known to the defendant or is so obvious that the 

defendant must have been aware of it.” Nathenson v. Zonagen Inc., 267 F.3d 

400, 408 (5th Cir. 2001). Recklessness can be proved through circumstantial 

evidence, including allegations that a defendant “knew facts or had access to 

information suggesting that their public statements were not accurate.” Novak, 

216 F.3d at 311. 

 Here, the Funds have alleged a litany of facts that, when considered 

collectively, create a cogent and compelling inference that at the time Red River 

made the statements about its environmental commitments, practices, and 

risks, it knew or should have known that the statements misrepresented and 

omitted material facts that would be misleading to potential investors. 

 At the same time that Red River was reassuring investors of its 

environmental commitments and practices, the company knew facts and had 

access to information that contradicted its public statements. First, the 

                                                        
2 This Court has repeatedly reserved the question of whether recklessness 
meets the scienter requirement. See Matrixx, 563 U.S. at 48; Tellabs, 552 U.S. 
at 319, n.3; Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 194 (1976). However, as 
this Court noted in Tellabs, “Every Court of Appeals that has considered the 
issue has held that a plaintiff may meet the scienter requirement by showing 
that the defendant acted intentionally or recklessly…” Tellabs, 552 U.S. at 319, 
n.3. 
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decision by Wilson not to heed the advice of Red River’s engineers supports a 

strong inference that while Red River was claiming that its investments in the 

latest technology differentiated it from competitors, the company knew that 

claim was false. See, e.g., In re Eletrobras, 245 F. Supp. 3d 450, 468 (S.D.N.Y. 

2017) (holding that strong inference of scienter when defendants certified the 

efficacy of financial controls despite having been given internal reports 

explicitly saying that controls were not effective); In re Ebix, Inc. Secs. Litig., 898 

F. Supp. 2d 1325, 1346 (N.D. Ga. 2012) (holding that when “reports from staff” 

contradict management statements it creates a strong inference that 

defendants were at least reckless in their representations). Second, Red River 

received repeated warnings from local university geology departments of low-

level seismic activity in the areas that the company was fracking. Thus, when 

Wilson announced that there was “about a zero percent chance” of a major 

environmental event on Red River’s property, it was less than two weeks after 

the company had received a fresh round of reports and company discussion. 

This close temporal proximity between Wilson’s public statements and the 

extensive meeting with Grimes and Thompson raises a strong inference that 

Wilson knew of contrary information at the time the statement was made, and 

therefore was at least reckless in his representation. In re Sunedison Secs. 

Litig., 300 F. Supp. 3d 444, 480 (S.D.N.Y. 2018). Furthermore, Red River was 

an active member of the oil and gas community and actively monitored 

industry developments. For example, Thompson was aware of reports of low-

level seismic activity attributable to fracking in South Dakota, yet no disclosure 
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was made on the subsequent 10-Q report. Finally, although the core operations 

doctrine does not independently support an inference of scienter, in many 

courts it can enhance an inference of scienter supported by other sources. City 

of Pontiac Gen. Emples. Ret. Sys. v. Lockheed Martin Corp., 875 F. Supp. 2d 

359, 371 (S.D.N.Y 2012). It is extremely unlikely that Wilson, Thompson, and 

Grimes were unaware of events surrounding Red River.  

 Looking at the scienter question holistically, as required by Tellabs, there 

is a cogent and compelling inference that Red River acted recklessly in 

representing its environmental commitments, practices, and risks to investors. 

The circumstantial evidence shows, Red River had access to knowledge 

contradicting its public statements. There were the internal warnings from 

company employees, outside warnings from university geology departments, 

Red River’s knowledge of industry trends and disclosure requirements, and 

reports of potentially fracking-related seismic activity out of South Dakota, 

there was an avalanche of information.  

 In Matrixx, this court found that the inference the company elected not to 

disclose reports of adverse events because it understood they would have a 

negative effect on the market was at as compelling as the inference that it 

simply though the reports did not indicate anything meaningful. Matrixx, 563 

U.S. at 49-50. Here, the overwhelming circumstantial evidence raises the 

strong inference that Red River similarly decided not to disclose evidence of 

seismic activity or the true state of its environmental practices because it 

understood that information would have a negative effect on the market. 
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II. SECTION 20(a) DOES NOT REQUIRE THE FUNDS TO PLEAD 
CULPABLE PARTICIPATION BECAUSE IT IS CONTRARY TO THE 
STATUTE’S PLAIN LANGUAGE AND PURPOSE, AND WOULD ERODE 
THE OBJECTIVE OF CONTROL PERSONS LIABILITY.  

 
It is simply against the text and purpose of Section 20(a) of the Exchange 

Act of 1934, and public policy to require the Funds to allege culpable 

participation. Section 20(a), in pertinent part, provides that every person who 

“controls any person liable [under the Exchange Act] . . . shall also be liable [as 

the controlled person] . . . , unless the controlling person acted in good faith 

. . . .” 15 U.S.C.S. § 78t(a). Contrary to Section 20(a)’s plain language, a 

minority of circuits still require plaintiffs to allege culpable participation.3 See 

Maher v. Durango Metals, Inc., 144 F.3d 1302, n.8 (10th Cir. 1998) (listing the 

circuit split and siding with the majority rejecting a culpable participation 

requirement). Nevertheless, Section 20(a)  should not require the Funds to 

plead culpable participation for three reasons. First, the rules of statutory 

interpretation clearly indicate that this Court should enforce the plain language 

of the statute. Second, requiring culpable participation is contrary to the 

Exchange Act’s central purpose— to expand the scope of securities liability. 

Third, as a matter of public policy, Section 20(a)  requires a flexible pleading 

                                                        
3 Some circuits have incorrectly interpreted footnote 28 in Ernst & Ernst v. 
Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185 (1976) and claim this Court recognized Section 20(a) 
liability requires culpable participation. See e.g. Carpenter v. Harris, Upham & 
Co., 594 F.2d 388, 394 (4th Cir.1979). More accurately, this Court’s dicta 
implicates the good faith defense as the state of mind condition Congress 
imposed, and that the defendant must overcome the liability by at least a 
recklessness standard. See G.A. Thompson & Co. v. Partridge, 636 F.2d 945, 
958 (5th Cir. 1981).  
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requirement to ensure clarity and compliance with securities laws. Therefore, 

this Court should affirm the Fourteenth Circuit’s holding that the Funds were 

not required to plead Wilson’s culpable participation, and thus sufficiently 

alleged a viable Section 20(a) claim. 

A. The rules of statutory interpretation indicate the Funds 
accurately pleaded a Section 20(a) violation because the statute’s 
“good faith” provision carves out an affirmative defense, not a 
state of mind element. 

 
“[W]hen the statute's language is plain, the sole function of the courts 

. . . is to enforce it according to its terms.” Hartford Underwriters Ins. Co. v. 

Union Planters Bank, N. A., 530 U.S. 1, 6 (2000) (internal quotations and 

citations omitted). Section 20(a)’s text is silent on culpable participation, so the 

“plain meaning . . . does not require participation in the wrongful transaction.” 

Metge v. Baehler, 762 F.2d 621, 630-31 (8th Cir. 1985). Although the language 

at the end of Section 20(a) grants defendants a “good faith” defense, this does 

not suggest plaintiffs must plead a state of mind component, but instead 

places the burden on the defendant to prove they acted in good faith. Hollinger 

v. Titan Capital Corp., 914 F.2d 1564, 1572 (9th Cir. 1990). A contrary reading 

would reduce Section 20(a) to surplusage because the only difference between 

control person liability and a primary liability is the burden of proof. Haynes v. 

Anderson & Strudwick, Inc., 508 F. Supp. 1303, 1315 (E.D. Va. 1981). As the 

plain text of Section 20(a) indicates, the Funds only had to allege a primary 

violation and control. 
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1. The plain language of the statute indicates “good faith” is not a 
pleading requirement, but a statutorily provided affirmative 
defense that Wilson has the burden to prove. 

 
The Funds do not have to allege culpable participation because this 

requirement diverges too far from the statute’s plain text and its natural 

reading. “[C[ourts must presume that a legislature says in a statute what it 

means and means in a statute what it says[.]” Connecticut Nat'l Bank v. 

Germain, 503 U.S. 249, 253-54 (1992). Section 20(a)’s silence on a culpable 

participation requirement makes Congress’s intent clear— instead of 

demanding plaintiffs to plead bad faith, defendants may prove good faith. 

This Court’s past readings of Section 20(a) and statutes with similar 

language demonstrate that a culpable participation pleading requirement 

should not be read in today. Although pleading requirements were not at issue, 

this court in Sennott v. Rodman & Renshaw did not read in a culpable 

participation requirement in finding a broker-dealer liable under Section 20(a). 

414 U.S. 926, 929 (1973) (“[A]nyone who ‘controls’ a person liable under the 

1934 Act is equally liable, subject only to the defense of ‘good faith.’”).  

Additionally, this Court has found the word “unless” to be a word of 

exception. For example, in EEOC v. Abercrombie & Fitch Stores, Inc., this Court 

gave weight to the word “unless” while interpreting Title VII. 135 S. Ct. 2028, 

2036 (2015) (Alito, J., concurring) (“[A] clause that begins with the term ‘unless’ 

unmistakably sets out [a defendant’s] defense . . . . A plaintiff, on the other 

hand, must prove the elements set out prior to the ‘unless’ clause.”  
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Here, the words “culpable” and “participant” are clearly absent in the 

statute. Therefore, the plain words of Section 20(a) do not indicate any culpable 

participation pleading requirement. Additionally, Congress’s use of “unless” in 

Section 20(a) signifies that “good faith” is an exception to what is required for 

liability: control and the primary violation. As in Abercrombie & Fitch, the “good 

faith” provision after “unless” is what the defendant must show to escape 

liability, while the prior elements are what a plaintiff must show to prove 

liability. Requiring plaintiffs to plead culpable participation only “confuses the 

parties’ responsibilities and unnecessarily burdens plaintiffs contrary to the 

plain meaning of the statute.” Metge, 762 F.2d at 631. Overall, “it would seem 

imprudent to construct a pleading requirement that demands that plaintiffs 

anticipate and negate an alleged controlling person’s good faith defense by 

pleading detailed facts to show the controller’s culpability.” Terra Resources I v. 

Burgin, 644 F. Supp. 82, 88 (S.D.N.Y 1987) (rejecting a heightened pleading 

standard to state a 20(a) claim).   Thus, the statute’s plain words clearly 

indicate there is no culpable participation pleading requirement. 

2. A culpable participation pleading requirement would reduce 
Section 20(a) to surplusage. 

 
This Court should also avoid interpreting 20(a) where it would create 

“overlap and redundancy” with other provisions in the same enactment. 

Marinello v. United States, 138 S. Ct. 1101, 1107-08 (2018) (internal citations 

omitted). In light of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, a culpable participation 

pleading requirement renders Section 20(a) superfluous. 
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Requiring plaintiffs to allege culpable participation in their prima facie 

case would conflate secondary liability under Section 20(a) and what makes an 

actor primarily liable under the Exchange Act. The primary difference between 

primary liability and the secondary liability is where the burden of proof lies. 

See point II(A)(1) supra. If plaintiffs were required to plead culpable 

participation, they “might as well sue the controlling person directly under the 

anti-fraud provisions . . . .” Haynes, 508 F. Supp. at 1315. 

Therefore, this Court should follow the majority of the Circuits and find 

Section 20(a)’s language does not require plaintiffs to plead the control person 

was a culpable participant in the primary violation. See Frank v. Dana Corp., 

646 F.3d 954, 963 (6th Cir. 2011) (citing to the majority of circuits in finding 

“good faith” is an affirmative defense and not requiring culpable participation) 

(internal citations omitted).  The Section’s plain language is unambiguous and 

the “good faith” language provides only an affirmative defense. Additionally, a 

culpable participation element would only render Section 20(a) superfluous. 

Therefore, the text and rules of statutory interpretation are clear on what 

plaintiffs must plead: control and a primary violation. 

In the case at bar, the Funds sufficiently alleged a Section 20(a) violation. 

Because the plain language does not require an allegation of culpable 

participation, the Funds only needed a short and plain statement of the claim 

showing they were entitled to relief. Fed. R. Civ. P. (8)(a). First, a primary 

violation was alleged under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. (R. at 9). The 

complaint also alleges that Wilson had sufficient control over the primary 
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violation as CEO of Red River. (R. at 9); Maher, 144 F.3d at 1306 (stating that 

where “the control person determination is a factual question” a motion to 

dismiss will only be upheld if facts were alleged that would lead to a reasonable 

inference of control). Since the facts have been properly alleged here, the 

burden now shifts to Wilson to make a showing of good faith. However, it is 

unlikely that Wilson will be able to do so since he was “unconcerned by the 

reports about seismic activity” and knew or shown have known his conference 

statements were material misstatements. (R. at 7). Therefore, this Court should 

find the Funds sufficiently pleaded a 20(a) claim. 

B. A culpable participation element would be contrary to Congress’s 
purpose in passing Section 20(a) to broaden liability. 

 
In addition to the clear legislative purpose displayed in the statute’s text, 

Section 20(a)’s legislative history indicates Congress did not wish to require 

culpable participation. Before Section 20(a) was passed, “the conduct of a 

corporation's agents in violation of the securities laws was not attributable to 

those who were part of the corporate hierarchy” under common law vicarious 

liability. Laperriere v. Vesta Ins. Group, Inc., 526 F.3d 715, 722 (11th Cir. 

2008). As this Court has recognized, the Exchange Act was meant “to expand, 

rather than restrict the scope of liability under the securities laws.” Sennott, 

414 U.S. at 929. Requiring plaintiffs to plead culpable participation would 

restrict liability to only the most egregious violations. 

The desire to hold corporate executives liable without a participation 

element is especially apparent in light of the 1933 Act’s legislative history. This 

is because “Section 20(a) was consciously modeled after Section 15 of the 1933 
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Act.” SEC v. Management Dynamics, Inc., 515 F.2d 801, 812 (2d Cir. 1975). 

While passing Section 15 of the 1933 Act, a draftsman stated that control 

person liability was important because “[t]he man who stands behind the 

scenes and dominates the dummy” is the individual who “ought to be 

responsible because he is the real party in interest.” Id. at 12; S. Rep. No. 47, 

73d Cong., 1st Sess. 5 (1933); H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 152, 73d Cong., 1st Sess. 27 

(1933). Congress wanted to expand securities liability, and prevent corporate 

executives from hiding behind controlled persons.  

However, the Second Circuit has relied on only one point of legislative 

history to support a finding that the legislature wanted to impose culpable 

participation. In Lanza v. Drexel & Co., the Second Circuit held that a Section 

20(a) violation required proof of culpable participation to find liability. 479 F.2d 

1277, 1299 (2d Cir. 1973) (internal quotations omitted). The court pointed to 

how Congress rejected a lower liability standard as suggested by the House, 

and instead passed the 1934 Act upon an amendment instilling a higher, 

reasonable care, fiduciary standard.4 Id. 

This reasoning is flawed for two reasons. First, the court should not have 

turned to legislative history when the text was clearly silent about culpable 

                                                        
4 The 3rd Circuit in concluding there was a culpable participation requirement 
also cited the same legislative history as Lanza, and also conclusively stated, 
“we doubt that Congress would have imposed a provision like Section 20(a) and 
permitted liability to be found on something other than culpable participation.” 
Rochez Bros., Inc. v. Rhoades, 527 F.2d 880, 885 (3d Cir. 1975). 
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participation. See Wong Yang Sung v. McGrath, 339 U.S. 33, 49 (1950) 

(declining to consult legislative history when that “history is more conflicting 

than the text is ambiguous”). Second, the Second Circuit has failed to apply 

this logic and employ this “higher liability standard” analysis to all control 

persons liability. See 15 U.S.C.S § 77k; McKenna v. Smart Techs., 2012 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 47134, *58-60 (S.D.N.Y April 3, 2012) (declining to read the 

Exchange Act's “culpable participation” requirement into the Securities Act and 

enumerating the large split within the circuit on this issue)(citations omitted). 

Thus, this Court should avoid employing sparse legislative history to impose a 

standard of liability in the shadow of clear legislative intent. Congress did not 

intend for plaintiffs to allege culpable participation. 

C. As a matter of public policy, a culpable participation pleading 
requirement would negatively impact courts and shareholders, 
and dismiss a valuable method of ensuring compliance of 
securities laws. 

 
A culpable participant pleading requirement would create more harm than 

protection. First, this pleading requirement leads to confusion and fracturing 

within circuits. Second, the requirement would be especially onerous on 

plaintiffs. Third, this requirement would encourage corporate officers to be 

willfully blind to their agent’s unlawful actions. Therefore, in the interest of 

public policy, this Court should enforce the statute’s plain language. 

Construing a culpable participation pleading requirement into the 

statute will only lead to further fracturing and misapplication as it has within 

the minority Circuits because they turned away from the text of the statute. 

Compare Suez Equity Investors, L.P. v. Toronto-Dominion Bank, 250 F.3d 87, 
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101 (2nd Cir. 2001) (requiring culpable participation, however still finding the 

complaint viable without applying culpable participation analysis) with In re 

Initial Pub. Offering Sec. Litig., 241 F. Supp. 2d 281, 396 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 19, 

2003) (questioning the meaning of culpable participation and finding that 

alleging control was enough). These inconsistent rulings only make it difficult 

for defendants and plaintiffs to determine what constitutes a 20(a) claim. 

Additionally, a culpable participation requirement creates 

insurmountable pleading requirements. Some district courts in the minority 

circuits have required the PSLRA heightened pleading requirements because 

they akin culpable participation to scienter.5 See Pa. Pub. Sch. Emps. Ret. Sys. 

v. Bank of Am. Corp., 874 F.Supp.2d 341, 368 (S.D.N.Y.2012); Anwar v. 

Fairfield Greenwich Ltd., 728 F. Supp. 2d 372, 413 (S.D.N.Y. 2010). However, 

this is particularly onerous for plaintiffs because they have limited discovery 

opportunities before filing the complaint. See Michael A. Bednarz, Let's Be 

Frank: The Future Direction of Controlling Person Liability Remains Uncertain, 46 

Suffolk U. L. Rev. 551, 565 (2013) (discussing how jurisdictions with culpable 

participation pleadings have made it impossible for plaintiffs to receive 

                                                        
5 Currently, plaintiffs must only show a short and plain statement showing that 
the pleader is entitled to relief because Section 20(a) does not require a state of 
mind and fraud is not an essential element. Lustgraaf v. Behrens, 619 F.3d 
867, 877 (8th Cir. 2010); In re Initial Pub. Offering Sec. Litig., 241 F. Supp. 2d 
at 396. The PSLRA is not implicated because there is no state of mind 
component plaintiffs must plead in the statute. This “imagines a conflict where 
there is none.” Adams v. Kinder-Morgan, Inc., 340 F.3d 1083, 1109 (10th Cir. 
2003).  
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favorable summary judgments). When faced with heightened pleading 

standards for both the corporate official’s state of mind and the primary 

violation, without discovery or depositions, plaintiffs likely do not have the 

necessary facts to surpass the pleading stage. 

Next, corporate officials are in the best position to ensure that their 

agents comply with securities law. Although there is concern about frivolous 

claims being alleged against control persons, these “defendants are in an 

overwhelmingly advantaged position to gather and produce facts to show they 

acted in good faith.” Erin L. Massey, Control Person Liability Under Section 

20(A): Striking a Balance of Interests for Plaintiffs and Defendants, 6 Hous. Bus. 

& Tax L.J. 109, 138 (2005); See also Adam Felsenthal, The Blindsided Insider: 

Insider Trading Liability for Supervising a Rogue Trader, 61 Clev. St. L. Rev 167, 

179 (2013) (stating that “innocent” control persons “would likely have a strong 

good faith defense . . . [because they] could point to a lack of "red flags" in the 

trader's history, as well as a strong compliance program generally[]”). 

Even if this Court finds that Section 20(a) requires culpable 

participation, because of Wilson’s immense participation in the primary 

violation, the complaint is still sufficient to withstand the motion to dismiss. 

The complaint alleges culpable participation under point three “the Wilson 

Statements” as a false or misleading statements. (R. at 9). Statements six and 

seven were made personally by Wilson at the Mar 15, 2018 investor conference. 

(R. at 7, 9). Wilson’s statement seven that he “honestly believe[s] a major 

environmental event has about a zero percent chance of occurring on [the] 
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property” more than enough to meet the reckless standard. (R. at 7). This is 

especially apparent when at the time, Wilson knew about at least one of the 

seismic reports when he made this statement. (R. at 7).  

Accordingly, as a matter of public policy, this Court should enforce the 

statute’s plain language. An alternative ruling would only lead to court 

fracturing, overly burdening plaintiffs, and less securities oversight. Overall, it 

should be up to the legislature if they wish to amend Section 20(a) and require 

culpable participation to be alleged. Wis. Cent. Ltd. v. United States, 138 S. Ct. 

2067, 2074 (2018). Thus, the Funds adequately pleaded a Section 20(a) 

violation and the lower court should be affirmed. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons stated therein, Respondents respectfully request this 

Court affirm the decision of the Circuit Court. First, Red River’s statements are 

actionable as a matter of law under Section 10(b). The Funds have adequately 

pled that Red River’s statements contained misrepresentations and omissions 

of material facts. Moreover, the Funds have pled a strong inference that at the 

time the statements were made, Red River either knew or was reckless in not 

knowing that its statements misrepresented or omitted material facts. Second, 

Section 20(a) does not require culpable participation to be pled because such 

an element would be contrary to the statute’s text and purpose, and would be 

against public policy. 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
/s/ Team # R3 
Counsel for the Respondents 
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Appendix A – Statement Chart 

 
# Alleged Statement 

Maker & Source 
Alleged Statement Statement 

Type 

1 
March 1, 2018 10-K “Our commitment to the environment is 

unwavering and constant.” 
 

Commitment 

2 

March 1, 2018 10-K “There is no higher priority than ensuring 
that our drilling activity continues to be 
conducted in a manner consistent with 
preventing or remediating any damage 
resulting from an environmental occurrence.” 
 

Commitment 

3 

March 1, 2018 10-K “We continue to conduct frequent 
environmental practices reviews to assure 
our commitment to environmental best 
practices and devote our most talented 
personnel and a substantial budget to ensure 
protection of the environment.” 

Practices 

4 

March 1, 2018 10-K “Our commitment to the environment is 
demonstrated through our investment in and 
adoption of the latest technology in order to 
minimize water or soil contamination. This 
commitment differentiates us from our 
competitors.” 

Practices 

5 
March 1, 2018 10-K “Fracking involves no serious environmental 

issues not associated with conventional 
drilling.” 

Risk 

6 
Wilson, May 15, 
2018 Investor 
Conference 

“I think we have the tightest environmental 
practices in the West Texas oil patch.” 

Wilson 

7 

Wilson, May 15, 
2018 Investor 
Conference 

“Candidly, I honestly believe a major 
environmental event has about a zero percent 
chance of occurring on our property. We just 
pay too much attention for that to happen.” 

Wilson 

8 

June 1, 2018 10-Q “Our operations could be subject to 
disruption by natural disasters beyond our 
control, including . . . severe storms, fires, 
earthquakes, civil unrest, and terrorist 
attacks.” 

Risk 

 
 


